IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Docket No. 84707

GILBERT P. HYATT

Appellant.

Electronically Filed Oct 10 2022 06:54 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

FRANCHISE TAX BOARD OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County Case No. A382999 The Honorable Tierra Jones, District Judge, Department X

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON BEHALF OF GILBERT P. HYATT

Mark A. Hutchison (Nev. Bar No. 4639) Joseph C. Reynolds (Nev. Bar No. 8630) HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89145 Telephone: (702) 385-2500

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal by Appellant Gilbert P. Hyatt ("Hyatt") from a post-judgment order (the "Second Cost Order") by the district court denying Hyatt's motion to tax costs and awarding all costs requested by Respondent Franchise Tax Board of California (the "FTB"). Appellate jurisdiction exists under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and 3A(b)(8).

The district court entered a judgment on February 21, 2020, and notice of entry of the Judgment was filed and served on February 26, 2020.² The district court then initially denied in total Respondent FTB's motion for attorneys' fees and costs on June 8, 2020 (the "First Cost Order"), finding there was no prevailing party in the action.³ The FTB appealed the First Cost Order, and this Court, on April 23, 2021, reversed in part that First Cost Order finding the FTB was the prevailing party and entitled to an award of mandatory statutory costs. This Court affirmed the district court's denial of the FTB's request for attorneys' fees.⁴ The Court then remanded the case to the district court for proceedings consistent with the Court's April 23, 2021, order.

¹ Appellant's Appendix 9711-20 (hereinafter "AA").

² AA 4739-48.

³ AA 8981-82, 9013-14, 9054-64.

⁴ AA 9075-83.

After further briefing from the parties, the district court entered its Second Cost Order on April 6, 2022, denying Hyatt's motion to tax costs and awarding the FTB all of its requested costs.⁵ Hyatt appealed the Second Cost Order on May 6, 2022.⁶ This appeal is therefore timely. *See* NRAP 4(a).

⁵AA 9711-20.

⁶ AA 9726-28.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves the FTB, a State of California government agency. The case has been reviewed by this Court on four prior occasions with decisions issued in 2002, 2014, 2017, and 2021.⁷ The case has been reviewed by the United States Supreme Court three times, with decisions issued in 2003, 2016, and 2019.⁸ Prior review of this case has implicated constitutional issues. Based on this history, it is presumptively assigned to this Court. *See* NRAP 17(a).

_

⁷ Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 2002 Nev. LEXIS 57 (Petition Granted In Part, Docket Nos. 35549 and 36390 (Nev. Apr. 4, 2002)); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 130 Nev. 662 (2014); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 133 Nev. 826, 407 P.3d 717 (2017); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 2021 WL 1609315 (Order Affirming In Part, Reversing In Part and Remanding, Docket No. 80884 (April 23, 2021)).

⁸ See Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 538 U.S. 488, 123 S. Ct. 1683 (2003) ("Hyatt I"); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 578 U.S. 171, 136 S. Ct. 1277 (2016) ("Hyatt II"); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 587 U.S. ____, 139 S. Ct. 1485 (2019) ("Hyatt III").

Appellant Gilbert P. Hyatt ("Appellant" or "Hyatt") submits his opening brief appealing the district court's post-judgment Second Cost Order awarding Respondent Franchise Tax Board of California ("Respondent" or the "FTB") the entirety of its requested statutory costs in the amount of \$2,262,815.56.9

1. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The district court granted the entirety of FTB's \$2,262,815.56 cost request without any explanation or apparent analysis, and without making any reductions in any of the 13 categories of costs sought by the FTB. Over 99% of the FTB's requested costs were incurred before the FTB's post-trial appeal that sought and obtained reversal of the long-standing United States Supreme Court precedent *Nevada v. Hall.*¹⁰ This new argument by the FTB was never asserted during the prior 17 years the case was pending, and was not asserted during this Court's first

_

⁹ AA 9711-20.

¹⁰ Nevada v. Hall, 440 U.S. 410, 99 S. Ct. 1182 (1979), overruled by Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 139 S. Ct. 1485 (2019) ("Hyatt III"). The FTB argued to the district court that "jurisdiction" was always at issue and presented in its earlier appeals. However, the FTB never presented or argued that Nevada v. Hall should be reversed; instead, the FTB deliberately and consciously asserted a jurisdiction argument that it should be granted an exception from the application of Nevada v. Hall. This is a critical distinction presented in this appeal.

review in 2002^{11} nor during the United States Supreme Court's first review in 2003, Hyatt I.¹²

The district court granted the FTB's entire cost request for the 20-plus year litigation without addressing any specific category or amounts of FTB's requests and without analysis or explanation as to whether each category and requested amount was reasonable and necessary in accord with NRS 18.005. Additionally, in awarding the FTB every cost it requested, and giving no meaningful review of these requests, the district court contradicted its prior orders in the case.

Specifically, in 2010, when Hyatt was the prevailing party, the district court denied to Hyatt a number of substantial costs requests with detailed explanations after a lengthy process including appointment of a Special Master to review all cost submissions. In 2022, the district court granted the FTB these same cost requests that had been denied to Hyatt with no analysis or explanation.

Hyatt therefore appeals the district court order on the basis that (i) the district court abused its discretion by failing to exercise any discretion and failing to conduct any meaningful review of the FTB's cost request, (ii) as a matter of law,

¹¹ Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 2002 Nev. LEXIS 57 (Petition Granted In Part, Docket Nos. 35549 and 36390 (Nev. Apr. 4, 2002)) (copy at AA 2491-98).

¹² Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 538 U.S. 488, 123 S. Ct. 1683 (2003) (copy at AA 2658-65).

¹³ AA 9131-9157 (report); AA 9159-69 (statistical analysis).

the district court cannot contradict its prior orders in the case, and (iii) the cost award and the process under which it was issued violates Hyatt's due process rights.

Hyatt seeks reversal of the cost award and a determination either by this

Court or via remand to the district court as to (i) which of the 13 categories and
amounts of costs awarded under NRS 18.005 were reasonable and necessary, (ii) a
determination that the district court must follow its prior decisions in the same case
on the same issues, as a matter of law, and (iii) Hyatt's due process rights were
violated with respect to the FTB's cost award.

In addition, and alternatively, certain of the costs awarded to the FTB lack justifying documentation required under NRS 18.005. Hyatt requests reversals of the costs awarded by the district court in those categories on this alternative ground.

2. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES.

- 1. Did the district court abuse its discretion under NRS 18.020 and 18.005 by failing to exercise any discretion in awarding the FTB the entirety— every cent—of the \$2,262,815.56 in costs requested by the FTB?
- 2. Did the district court abuse its discretion under NRS 18.020 and 18.005 in finding without explanation or apparent analysis that \$2,051,081.24 in costs

incurred by the FTB *after* the decision in *Hyatt I* in April 2003 were necessary and reasonable?

- 3. Was the district court required to follow its earlier decisions and disallow more than \$700,000 in costs, when it had specifically denied these same costs to Hyatt in 2010?
- 4. Did the district court abuse its discretion in awarding the FTB the entirety of its requested \$242,254.67 in expert witness fees under NRS 18.005(5) without making any finding as to why the FTB was entitled to more than the \$1,500 per expert statutory fee for its five trial experts, given that the FTB lost at trial where those experts' work-product was unsuccessfully advanced?
- 5. Did the district court abuse its discretion in awarding the FTB the entirety of its requested \$225,431.41 in costs for travel and lodging for depositions under NRS 18.005(15), given that the FTB did not submit documentation tying these expenses to counsel travel for depositions that were necessary to the FTB's defense?
- 6. Did the district court abuse its discretion in awarding the FTB the entirety of its requested photocopy costs under NRS 18.005(12), telecopy costs under NRS 18.005(11), long-distance costs under NRS 18.005(13), and postage under NRS 18.005(14), given that the FTB did not submit documentation tying these expenses to actions that were necessary to the FTB's defense?

7. Did the district court violate Hyatt's due process rights set forth Article 1, Section 8, Subsection 2 of the Nevada Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution by depriving him of his property and liberty through application of NRS 18.020 to award all costs requested by the FTB without any analysis or explanation?

3. INTRODUCTION.

This Court is very familiar with the 20-plus year procedural history of this case, having itself reviewed the case on at least four prior occasions, resulting in three reviews by the United States Supreme Court.¹⁴ The FTB sat on its hands from the outset of the case, including early United States Supreme Court review, and did not seek the jurisdictional relief upon which it prevailed in 2019—*i.e.* reversal of the long-standing United States Supreme Court precedent, *Nevada v. Hall*, 440 U.S. 410 (1979)—until it had definitively lost in Nevada and had

¹⁴

¹⁴ Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 2002 Nev. LEXIS 57 (Petition Granted In Part, Docket Nos. 35549 and 36390 (Nev. Apr. 4, 2002)); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 130 Nev. 662, 395 P.3d 125 (2014); Franchise Tax Board of State of California v. Hyatt, 133 Nev. 826, 407 P.3d 717 (2017); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 2021 WL 1609315 (Order Affirming In Part, Reversing In Part and Remanding, Docket No. 80884 (April 23, 2021)); Franchise Tax Board of Cal. v. Hyatt, 538 U.S. 488, 123 S. Ct. 1683 (2003) ("Hyatt I"); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 578 U.S. 171, 136 S. Ct. 1277 (2016) ("Hyatt II"); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 139 S. Ct. 1485 (2019) ("Hyatt III"). (Copies of these decisions are at AA 2491-2498, 2658-2665, 3852-85, 4239-47, 4407-43, 4712-4731.).

exhausted all appeals in this Court. Only then, via a second and then third bite of the proverbial apple in the form of United States Supreme Court review, did the FTB seek reversal of the very precedent upon which this 20-plus year litigation had proceeded. By then, the FTB and Hyatt had each incurred millions of dollars in costs.

The FTB, however, could have sought reversal of *Nevada v. Hall* in 2002, when it first requested and obtained review by the United States Supreme Court. But the FTB decided as a matter of strategy not to do so.¹⁵ In fact, FTB counsel was asked twice by the United States Supreme Court at oral argument in 2003 whether the FTB wanted the Court to overrule *Nevada v. Hall*, and each time the FTB said NO. At the outset of the oral argument, Justice Ginsburg inquired:

QUESTION: Mr. Leatherwood, may I ask you a threshold question? Some of your friends in this case have invited an overruling of Nevada against Hall. Of course, California was favored by that decision. Do you join in the plea to overrule Nevada v. Hall, or do you say this case is different because it involves four sovereign functions?

MR. LEATHERWOOD: Justice Ginsberg, we do not join in the chorus to overrule Nevada v. Hall. This case is different. This case goes to footnote 24 of Nevada v. Hall. It's our feeling that Nevada v. Hall is good law in the sense it does --

¹

¹⁵ For *Hyatt I*, the FTB's *certiorari* petition was granted in 2002. AA 2548. In its *cert* petition, the FTB did not argue that *Nevada v. Hall* should be overruled. AA 2500-2518, 2535-46. *Hyatt I* was then briefed and argued by the parties in 2003, again without the FTB asking the Court to overrule *Nevada v. Hall*. AA 2550-2656. The United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Hyatt I* in April 2003.

it does not implicate another state managing another state's core sovereign function. It's -- Nevada v. Hall was strictly an automobile accident.¹⁶

Then towards the end of the oral argument in 2003 Justice Stevens addressed whether *Nevada v. Hall* should be overruled. FTB counsel similarly responded that "the Court doesn't have to go that far to get — to get to this point. The Court can literally analogize to the special protections that are provided to state tax systems within the federal system itself." The United States Supreme Court then rejected the FTB's "exception" argument in 2003 in *Hyatt I*, ¹⁸ thereby affirming this Court's decision in 2002 that Nevada had jurisdiction over the FTB based on *Nevada v. Hall*. ¹⁹

¹⁶ AA 9116 (emphasis added).

¹⁷ AA 9120 (emphasis added). The FTB's Supplemental Brief filed December 2, 2021 (AA 9690-9710) in the district court admits the FTB deliberately chose not to seek reversal of *Nevada v. Hall* when it had the opportunity to do so in 2002, because it determined that "the issue of reversing *Hall* was unlikely to succeed based on caselaw and the composition of the United States Supreme Court justices. Because of the paucity of caselaw after *Hall*, FTB asserted a narrower argument [in 2002] in its briefing of *Hyatt I* aimed at 'guidance in the interpretation and application of the full faith and credit analysis of *Nevada v. Hall*." (AA 9694-95.) With hindsight, the FTB now claims that it was its *Hall*-reversal argument "asserted at the perfect time that won this case for FTB." *Id.* That "perfect time" represents the fortuitous situation of new justices being appointed to the United States Supreme Court and new cases being decided, where that Court for the first time in its history not only reversed long-standing precedent but did so in the same case where it previously had rejected FTB's "jurisdiction" challenges, after the FTB expressly refused to seek such reversal in *Hyatt I*.

¹⁸ 538 U.S. at 498-99, 123 S. Ct. at 1689-90.

¹⁹ 2002 Nev. LEXIS 57, at *10.

The case then proceeded to full discovery, an additional stay in 2006-07 in which writ review was sought but denied, a four-month jury trial in 2008, then the long post-trial appeal process before this Court,²⁰ and finally two additional trips to the United States Supreme Court.²¹ This entire procedural history of the case was predicated on the first decision by this Court in 2002 and the first decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Hyatt I* in 2003, where the FTB *chose not to challenge* the viability of *Nevada v. Hall*, because it did not like the composition of that Court at that time and felt there was a "paucity of caselaw after *Hall*".²² In other words, the FTB agreed with Hyatt in 2003 that as long as *Nevada v. Hall* remained the law of the land, it had to advance the exception argument and not seek reversal, because it concluded that the then-comprised United States Supreme Court would not overturn *Hall*.

None of the more than \$2 million in costs that were incurred by the FTB after the decision in *Hyatt I* in April 2003—other than perhaps the filing fees later paid to the United States Supreme Court for *Hyatt II* and Hyatt *III*—contributed to the FTB ultimately prevailing in this case when the United States Supreme Court, having been presented expressly with the question, overturned *Nevada v. Hall*. If the FTB had made the same jurisdictional argument for overturning *Nevada v. Hall* to the

²⁰ 130 Nev. 662, 395 P.3d 125 (2014).

²¹ Hyatt II, 578 U.S. 171, 136 S. Ct. 1277; Hyatt III, 139 S. Ct. 1485.

²² AA 9694-95.

United States Supreme Court in 2003, the FTB would have either: (1) prevailed in 2003 and saved itself from incurring the very costs it asks Hyatt to pay or (2) not prevailed in 2003 making it the "law of the case", with the subsequent jury verdict in place, in favor of Hyatt after appellate scrutiny of the non-jurisdictional issues.²³

Based on this procedural context and Nevada v. Hall being the law of the land from 2003 forward, the district court was required to apply its discretion and evaluate which of the FTB's total \$2,262,815.56 in itemized costs were reasonable and necessary in accord with Nevada law, especially those incurred after Hyatt I. The district court did none of that. Without comment during oral argument and without explanation in its written order, ²⁴ the district court simply awarded the FTB every dollar it requested for every cost incurred in every category during the 20-plus years of the litigation. In so doing, the district court abused its discretion, and its order must be reversed and remanded for a determination as to what cost requests by the FTB were mandatory and what, if any, other cost requests were reasonable and necessary in accord with Nevada law. The record before the district court is clear: simply signing off on a party's cost requests, without substantive analysis, is not and should not be the law of this State.

_

²³ In this event, the FTB would have had to convince the 2019 United States Supreme Court to overrule not only the 40-year-old precedent of *Nevada v. Hall*, but also have to overturn its own decision in this case on the identical issue, which the Court had never done before in its more than 200-year history.

²⁴ AA 9711-20.

4. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

A. For over 20 years this case proceeded based on the long-standing *Nevada v. Hall* precedent.

Hyatt filed this action in the district court on January 6, 1998, against the FTB, the California state agency responsible for assessing state income taxes. Hyatt's lawsuit against the FTB in Nevada was based on the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Nevada v. Hall* that a state could not claim immunity in the courts of a sister state based on that state's own immunity laws.

This Court cited *Nevada v. Hall* four times on two different pages in its 2002 order rejecting the FTB's writ seeking to dismiss this case early in this litigation.²⁵ Under the comity doctrine, this Court dismissed Hyatt's negligence claim against the FTB, but allowed Hyatt's intentional tort claims to proceed.²⁶

The United States Supreme Court granted the FTB's petition in 2002 for writ of *certiorari* seeking review of this Court's 2002 order.²⁷ The FTB's petition for review and its briefing on the merits did not seek review on the issue of whether *Nevada v. Hall* was wrongly decided and should be reversed. Rather, it argued that an exception to *Nevada v. Hall* should be established, so that certain "sovereign" functions, such as taxing activities, be exempted from the holding in

²⁵ 2002 Nev. LEXIS 57 at *6-7 (copy at AA 2491-2498).

²⁶ *Id.* at 7-8.

²⁷ AA 2548.

*Nevada v. Hall.*²⁸ Hyatt filed opposition briefing, arguing that in *Nevada v. Hall* there was no basis for an exception as asserted by the FTB.²⁹

The United States Supreme Court issued its opinion in *Hyatt I* denying the FTB's request for a "tax" exception to *Nevada v. Hall* in a unanimous 9-0 decision.³⁰ The decision cited *Nevada v. Hall* and concluded that the Nevada Supreme Court had appropriately decided the issues presented to it, which included sovereign immunity, full faith and credit, choice of law, and comity, by allowing Hyatt's intentional tort claims to proceed in Nevada state court while dismissing Hyatt's negligence claim.

A jury trial commenced on April 14, 2008, and lasted four months.³¹ On September 8, 2008, the district court entered a judgment consistent with the jury's verdicts awarding Hyatt \$388,085,282.56.³²

The FTB appealed the 2008 judgment to this Court.³³ In 2014, this Court affirmed the portion of the judgment in favor of Hyatt on his claims for fraud and

²⁸ AA 2500-2518, 2535-46, 2550-74, 2631-56.

²⁹ AA 2576-2629.

³⁰ 538 U.S. 488, 123 S. Ct. 1683 (2003).

³¹ AA 3195-3200.

³² AA 3202-06.

³³ AA 3208-15.

the award of \$1,085,281.56, citing specific evidence supporting the fraud claim and on liability for Hyatt's intentional infliction of emotional distress claim.³⁴

B. In 2016, the United States Supreme Court reviewed the case a second time but did not reverse *Nevada v. Hall.*

Having exhausted its appeals in Nevada, the FTB sought and received a second review by the United States Supreme Court in 2015. Unlike its positions and arguments in 2003, for the first time the FTB sought reversal of *Nevada v*. *Hall*. The FTB also alternatively argued that the award of damages in favor of Hyatt must be limited to \$50,000 per claim in accord with Nevada law limiting damages for claims made against Nevada state agencies.³⁵ Hyatt opposed the FTB on both grounds.³⁶

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