IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Case No. 84707

GILBERT P. HYATT

Electronically Filed Nov 09 2022 09:59 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

FRANCHISE TAX BOARD OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Respondent.

Appeal Regarding Judgment and Post-Judgment Orders Eighth Judicial District Court District Court Case No.: A382999

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

McDONALD CARANO LLP
Pat Lundvall (NSBN 3761)
lundvall@mcdonaldcarano.com
Rory T. Kay (NSBN 12416)
rkay@mcdonaldcarano.com
2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 1200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89102

Telephone: (702) 873-4100 Facsimile: (702) 873-9966

LEMONS, GRUNDY, & EISENBERG
Robert L. Eisenberg (NSBN 950)
rle@lge.net

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

Hyatt also overlooks that the Court decided *Cadle Co.* and its requirement of supporting documentation in 2015, but the FTB incurred most of its costs before 2010. It would be incorrect for the Court to retroactively apply *Cadle Co.*'s standard to the FTB's pre-2015 costs, as doing so would not have provided fair notice to the FTB of how it needed to document such costs. The Court has recognized that it should not apply new legal standards retroactively in other contexts, and it should confirm the same here. *See, e.g., Pub. Emp.'s Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dept.*, 124 Nev. 138, 155, 179 P.3d 542, 554 (2008) (in deciding whether to apply a statute retroactively, "courts are guided by fundamental notions of fair notice, reasonable reliance, and settled expectations.") (citation omitted); *Colwell v. State*, 118 Nev. 807, 820-21, 59 P.3d 463, 472-73 (2002). [footnote continued]

The district court evaluated the FTB's photocopy and telecopy costs pragmatically based on their amounts, and it found that the spreadsheet and supporting declaration and documentation from counsel established they were reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred. That is all NRS 18.005 and 18.020 require.

c. The FTB sufficiently supported its long-distance telephone and postage costs.

In criticizing whether the FTB established the necessity and reasonableness of the costs for long-distance telephone calls and postage, Hyatt argues that counsel's declaration did not individually discuss each call or piece of mail to show its necessity to the litigation. *See* AOB at 39-41. Hyatt claims the special master found the same insufficient on Hyatt's part in 2009, and so the district court erred in granting these costs to the FTB now. *See id*.

But *Cadle Co*. does not require counsel's supporting declaration to lay out the details of each individual call or each piece of mail. *Cadle Co*. confirms that district

Even more, as a practical matter, with the increase in computing power and software programs designed to track expenses, it is much easier to track telecopy and photocopy costs in 2022 than it was when the FTB incurred them beginning in 1998 for this case. This case has unique facts in the context of recoverable costs because it stretches 24 years. Hyatt's after-the-fact application of *Cadle Co.* to costs that the FTB incurred before 2015 asks this Court to speculate as to whether Hyatt's demanded source documentation was even available during the early portions of this case when the FTB incurred most of its costs.

courts have wide discretion to award costs, and the first part of that discretion is based on counsel providing a declaration generally asserting that the costs were reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred. 131 Nev. at 120-21, 345 P.3d at 1054. Once counsel provides this declaration, the district court can then scrutinize individual costs as necessary based on the supporting documentation. *See id.* The FTB's counsel provided a declaration confirming that each cost was necessary, reasonable, and actually incurred. *See* 21 AA 4768. Requiring counsel to explain each individual cost in complex litigation as Hyatt suggests would turn otherwise routine cost declarations into voluminous affairs, taking up the time and resources of district courts and litigants without justification. *Cadle Co.* does not require such detail in counsel's declaration, and so the district court did not abuse its discretion in this respect.

Even more, Hyatt mischaracterizes the special master's denial of his costs in 2009. The special master noted that Hyatt did not provide "justifying documentation that reached the standard set forth in *Village Builders*" and so the special master denied these costs. 39 AA 9147. By comparison, the FTB supported its long-distance telephone calls and postage with individualized supporting documentation and therefore satisfied *Cadle Co.* in doing so. *See* 26 AA 5936-6001 (phone bills); 26 AA 6036-30 AA 6997 (postage costs).

2. The district court reviewed the FTB's supporting documentation, heard extensive oral argument, and then entered a written order sufficiently laying out its reasoning for granting the FTB's costs.

Hyatt criticizes the district court for not asking any questions during the hearing and as a result suggests that the district court accordingly "gave no meaningful review" of Hyatt's arguments and provided no rationale for its award of the FTB's costs. *See* AOB at 20-21. Essentially Hyatt argues that unless a judge asks questions during oral argument, the judge is not discharging his or her duties. This argument is disrespectful and incorrect for multiple reasons.

First, the district court need not hold a hearing, and it certainly is not required to ask any questions during the same if it finds the parties' briefing and oral argument enough to decide the issues raised. This Court has held that a district court need only review evidence supporting that costs were reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred before awarding them. *See Cadle Co.*, 131 Nev. at 121, 345 P.3d at 1054 (district court may award costs with "evidence to determine whether a cost was reasonable and necessary"); *see also* EDCR 2.23(c) (district court judge may decide motion on its merits at any time with or without oral argument). The district court did that here. Hyatt's argument holds no water.⁶

Hyatt's feigned exasperation that the district court judge did not ask any questions reeks of paternalism. Though Justice Clarence Thomas wrote the opinion in *Hyatt III* and asked no questions during oral argument in front of the United States Supreme Court, Hyatt did not similarly criticize him for his silence.

Second, Hyatt has no facts to support his claim that the district court conducted no meaningful review. He merely assumes the district court conducted no review because it disagreed with his misplaced arguments. Hyatt's unfounded assumption does not establish abuse of discretion. The district court received thousands of pages of evidence from the parties, reviewed it for nearly eight weeks before holding a hearing, held the hearing over two days to allow the parties to fully argue their positions, and took another seven weeks to review the entire record before issuing a minute order. Indeed, the district court confirmed at the end of the hearing that it would review the record again before issuing a decision. See 42 AA 9795 ("So something of this size deserves nothing short of a written order. So because of that I am absolutely going to take this matter under advisement, and I am going to issue a written decision" on the pending motions.). The district court then issued a minute order and later reduced the same to a multi-page written order reflecting the district court's analysis of reasonableness and necessity under Cadle Co. See 42 AA 9713-20. This, again, is all that Cadle Co. requires. See 131 Nev. at 120-21, 345 P.3d at 1054. It is off the mark for Hyatt to suggest that this was not meaningful review by the district court.

3. Hyatt misrepresents the record to justify his *Nevada v. Hall* argument tying the definition of "necessity" to the prevailing party's litigation strategy, and it is without precedent and would create an unworkable rule for district courts to apply.

Hyatt is upset that he lost this case when the United States Supreme Court reversed Nevada v. Hall in Hyatt III and ordered Hyatt's case dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. In the last appeal to this Court, Hyatt argued that the Court should deny the FTB its costs as a matter of equity since the FTB did not immediately ask for reversal of Nevada v. Hall during Hyatt I in 2003. See Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 485 P.3d 1247, 2021 WL 1609315, at *4 (Apr. 23, 2021) (unpublished). The Court rejected this equitable framing and instead held that costs are mandatory to the prevailing party under NRS 18.020. See id. On this appeal, Hyatt now shifts his equitable framing about *Nevada v. Hall* to arguing as a Monday morning quarterback that the FTB's costs after 2003 were not "necessary" because the FTB should have asked the United States Supreme Court for reversal of Nevada v. Hall in Hyatt I. See AOB at 22-26. Thus, Hyatt argues that the district court abused its discretion when it awarded the FTB its costs incurred after 2003. See id.

Though Hyatt is inviting the Court to join him in Monday morning quarterbacking the FTB's litigation strategy, he provides no authority from this Court or elsewhere permitting this speculative intellectual exercise. This is likely because requiring a district court to analyze a prevailing party's litigation strategy to

determine whether the party should have raised the winning argument sooner is an unworkable rule based on assumption and incomplete information. Complex cases are legal chess, and parties often weigh the risks and probabilities of legal arguments to deliver them at the appropriate time. In doing so, litigants have inside information about the evidence, strengths, and weaknesses of the case law and their case that opposing parties and district courts do not. Much of that information is privileged between attorney and client. It is impossible for a district court to analyze the prevailing party's litigation strategy after the fact when it cannot access that inside and privileged information. And even if it does, it requires the district court to recreate the case through speculation as to when the winning argument would have succeeded. That is what Hyatt suggests here, 7 and it would put district courts in an impossible situation.

That is why this Court has always defined necessity much broader in *Cadle Co.* and preceding cases. Black's Law Dictionary defines "necessary" as "[t]hat which is needed for some purpose or reason." *Necessary*, Black's Law

_

As discussed above, *Hyatt III* gave no indication that the United States Supreme Court would have reversed *Nevada v. Hall* in 2003 as Hyatt suggests. Quite the opposite, *Hyatt III* discussed that the United States Supreme Court was abandoning stare decisis because of the failed experience of applying *Nevada v. Hall* after 2003. 139 S. Ct. at 1499 (confirming *Nevada v. Hall* was "an outlier in [the Court's] sovereign-immunity jurisprudence, particularly when compared to more recent decisions.").

DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019). This Court has agreed with that definition and granted district courts wide latitude to determine whether a litigation cost was needed for some purpose or reason in the case. *See, e.g., Matter of DISH Network Derivative Litigation*, 133 Nev. 438, 451-52, 401 P.3d 1081, 1093 (2017) (explaining it is within a district court's "sound discretion" to determine whether costs were necessary, *i.e.*, needed for some purpose or reason in the litigation).

The FTB showed why its costs incurred after 2003 were needed for some purpose or reason in the litigation. Until *Hyatt III* in 2019, the FTB had to defend itself from Hyatt's baseless tort claims and correct various jurisdictional errors on appeal, ultimately leading to the FTB's total win in 2019. *See Hyatt III*, 139 S. Ct. at 1491-92. Hyatt also ignores that at every round of appellate review—both by this Court and the United States Supreme Court—he lost more and more of his jury verdict award. As a result, the FTB's costs before and after 2003 were necessary, and it was not an abuse of discretion for the district court to reject Hyatt's speculative, unprecedented, and unworkable definition of "necessary."

B. The Special Master's 2008 Report And Recommendation Did Not Handcuff The District Court; It Was Not An Abuse Of Discretion For The District Court To Deviate From The Special Master When This Court's Cases And The FTB's Supporting Documentation Required It To Do So.

For various categories of costs under NRS 18.005, Hyatt objects to the district court awarding them when the special master previously denied these categories of

costs to Hyatt in 2009. *See* AOB at 27-36. These include costs for travel, video depositions, trial supplies, computer legal research, private investigators, mediators, the special master, and pro hac vice applications. *See id.* While the special master and district court may seem incongruent on the surface, the reasoning that the special master and district court employed shows why the FTB made sufficient showings in each category while Hyatt did not.⁸

As to travel costs, the special master and the district court are not in conflict. The special master denied such costs because Hyatt sought them under NRS 18.005(15) (which only applies to discovery and depositions), the special master applied a "strict construction" of that provision to hold only an attorney's travel expenses and not that of the party were recoverable, and Hyatt did not provide sufficient documentation to establish their recovery under the catch-all provision of NRS 18.005(17). *See* 39 AA 9148, 9153. By comparison, the FTB provided substantial supporting documentation establishing the reasonableness and necessity of travel costs, and it sought them under NRS 18.005(15) and NRS 18.005(17). *See* 30 AA 7002-32 AA 7526. As a result, the special master's "strict construction" of

Lurking under the surface of Hyatt's brief is his intimation that the district court should have appointed a special master in 2022 just as it did in 2009. *See* AOB at 27 (claiming the district court gave "little consideration" to Hyatt's motion to retax the FTB's costs). But Hyatt did not request a special master, and so he cannot now accuse the district court of abusing its discretion by not appointing one.

NRS 18.005(15) did not apply to the FTB, and the district court accordingly analyzed the supporting documentation under NRS 18.005(15) and NRS 18.005(17) as *Cadle Co.* requires. The FTB is entitled to recover its travel costs, and the district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding them.

As to costs for videotaped depositions, the special master was incorrect in concluding in 2009 that videographer fees are "not allowable [under NRS 18.005(2)] if a reporter was otherwise present and charged a cost." 39 AA 9141. He cited no authority for this position, and this Court has never embraced that rationale. As a result, the district court did not abuse its discretion by deviating from it. The district court correctly awarded videographer fees to the FTB because they were reasonable and necessary. Videotaped depositions can be powerful evidence in jury trials like this one, and the district court recognized as much. *See, e.g., United States v. Sacco*, 869 F.2d 499, 501 (9th Cir. 1989) (jury asking to review videotaped deposition to assess witness credibility).

As to trial supplies, the special master rejected these as to Hyatt because Hyatt only offered a "one sentence conclusory statement" that did not show reasonableness or necessity of such costs. *See* 39 AA 9154. Even more, the special master held that these costs were not supported as anything but regular office overhead. *See id.* By comparison, the FTB provided a detailed declaration from counsel establishing the

reasonableness and necessity of these supplies, and it also provided substantial supporting documentation as *Cadle Co.* requires. *See* 21 AA 4770; 36 AA 8269-312. As a result, the issue is not with the special master or the district court but with Hyatt failing to hit the evidentiary mark in 2009. The district court did not abuse its discretion when the FTB later hit the mark in 2022.

Hyatt's argument about computer legal research suffers from the same flaw. The special master allowed Hyatt to recover hundreds of thousands of dollars in legal research costs but denied others because Hyatt did not support them with documentary evidence satisfying Cadle Co. See 39 AA 9150 (awarding Hyatt \$141,189.95 for computer legal research costs where Hyatt provided "statements and summaries" from Thompson West and Lexis). Still, Hyatt misrepresents to the Court that the special master denied all his costs and argues that the district court acted contrary to the special master in awarding the FTB's costs. See AOB at 33. This is offensive. The FTB supported its legal research costs with the very same type of supporting documentation justifying the special master's prior award to Hyatt. See 35 AA 8037-148. In doing so, the FTB provided over 100 pages of statements and summaries from its legal research providers. See id. There is no conflict between the special master's prior award and the district court's most recent award on legal research. Both awarded just what Cadle Co. requires—all those costs

supported by sufficient documentation. Hyatt's attempt to repaint the record does not survive scrutiny of his own appendix on this point.

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